

PRELIMINARY DRAFT

Proposed Amendments to the Federal Rules of Appellate, Bankruptcy, and Civil Procedure

Request For Comment

Comments are Sought
on Amendments to:

Appellate Rules 3, 6, 42, and Forms 1 and 2

Bankruptcy Rules 2005, 3007, 7007.1, and 9036

Civil Rule 7.1

All Written Comments are Due
by February 19, 2020



THE UNITED STATES COURTS

Prepared by the
Committee on Rules of Practice and Procedure of the
Judicial Conference of the United States

AUGUST 2019

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK

COMMITTEE ON RULES OF PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE
OF THE
JUDICIAL CONFERENCE OF THE UNITED STATES
WASHINGTON, DC 20544

DAVID G. CAMPBELL
CHAIR

REBECCA A. WOMELDORF
SECRETARY

CHAIRS OF ADVISORY COMMITTEES

MICHAEL A. CHAGARES
APPELLATE RULES

DENNIS DOW
BANKRUPTCY RULES


JOHN D. BATES
CIVIL RULES

DONALD W. MOLLOY
CRIMINAL RULES

DEBRA A. LIVINGSTON
EVIDENCE RULES

MEMORANDUM

TO: THE BENCH, BAR, AND PUBLIC

FROM: Honorable David G. Campbell, Chair 
Committee on Rules of Practice and Procedure

DATE: August 19, 2019

RE: Request for Comments on Proposed Rules and Forms Amendments

The Judicial Conference Advisory Committees on Appellate, Bankruptcy, and Civil Rules have proposed amendments to their respective rules, and requested that the proposals be circulated to the bench, bar, and public for comment. The proposed amendments, advisory committee reports, and other information are attached and posted on the Judiciary's website at:

<http://www.uscourts.gov/rules-policies/proposed-amendments-published-public-comment>

Opportunity for Public Comment

All comments on these proposed amendments will be carefully considered by the advisory committees, which are composed of experienced trial and appellate lawyers, judges, and scholars. Please provide any comments on the proposed amendments, whether favorable, adverse, or otherwise, as soon as possible, but **no later than February 19, 2020**. All comments are made part of the official record and are available to the public.

Comments concerning the proposed amendments must be submitted electronically by following the instructions at:

<http://www.uscourts.gov/rules-policies/proposed-amendments-published-public-comment>

Members of the public who wish to present testimony may appear at public hearings on these proposals. The advisory committees will hold hearings on the proposed amendments on the following dates:

- Appellate Rules in Washington, DC on October 30, 2019, and in Phoenix, AZ on January 27, 2020;
- Bankruptcy Rules in Kansas City, MO on January 7, 2020, and in Phoenix, AZ on January 27, 2020; and
- Civil Rules in Washington, DC on October 28, 2019, and in Phoenix, AZ on January 27, 2020.

If you wish to testify, you must notify the Committee **at least 30 days before the scheduled hearing**. Requests to testify should be emailed to the Secretary of the Committee on Rules of Practice and Procedure at: RulesCommittee_Secretary@ao.uscourts.gov. Hearing cancelations, if any, will be posted at: <https://www.uscourts.gov/rules-policies/about-rulemaking-process/open-meetings-and-hearings-rules-committee>.

At this time, the Committee on Rules of Practice and Procedure has approved these proposed amendments only for publication and comment. The proposed amendments have not been submitted to or considered by the Judicial Conference or the Supreme Court. After the public comment period, the advisory committees will decide whether to submit the proposed amendments to the Committee on Rules of Practice and Procedure for approval in accordance with the Rules Enabling Act.

If approved, with or without revision, by the relevant advisory committee, the proposed amendment must be approved by the Committee on Rules of Practice and Procedure, the Judicial Conference, and the Supreme Court. The proposed amendments would become effective on December 1, 2021 absent congressional action.

If you have questions about the rulemaking process or pending rules amendments, please contact the Rules Committee Staff at 202-502-1820 or visit:

<http://www.uscourts.gov/rules-policies>

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

PART I: FEDERAL RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE

Excerpt of Memorandum from Judge Michael A. Chagares, Chair, Advisory Committee on Appellate Rules, to Judge David G. Campbell, Chair, Committee on Rules of Practice and Procedure (May 31, 2019) (revised June 25, 2019).....	7
---	---

Contents of the Notice of Appeal:

Rule 3. Appeal as of Right—How Taken.....	27
Rule 6. Appeal in a Bankruptcy Case	35
Form 1. Notice of Appeal to a Court of Appeals From a Judgment or Order of a District Court	37
Form 2. Notice of Appeal to a Court of Appeals From a Decision of the United States Tax Court	39
Rule 42. Voluntary Dismissal	43

PART II: FEDERAL RULES OF BANKRUPTCY PROCEDURE

Excerpt of Memorandum from Judge Dennis R. Dow, Chair, Advisory Committee on Bankruptcy Rules, to Judge David G. Campbell, Chair, Committee on Rules of Practice and Procedure (May 30, 2019) (revised June 25, 2019).....	45
Rule 2005. Apprehension and Removal of Debtor to Compel Attendance for Examination	51
Rule 3007. Objections to Claims.....	53
Rule 7007.1. Corporate Ownership Statement.....	55
Rule 9036. Notice and Service Generally	57

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

PART III: FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

Excerpt of Memorandum from Judge John D. Bates, Chair,
Advisory Committee on Civil Rules, to Judge David G.
Campbell, Chair, Committee on Rules of Practice and
Procedure (June 4, 2019) 63

Rule 7.1. Disclosure Statement 65

APPENDIX:

Procedures for the Judicial Conference's Committee on Rules
of Practice and Procedure and Its Advisory Rules Committees 69

**COMMITTEE ON RULES OF PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE
OF THE
JUDICIAL CONFERENCE OF THE UNITED STATES
WASHINGTON, DC 20544**

**DAVID G. CAMPBELL
CHAIR**

**REBECCA A. WOMELDORF
SECRETARY**

CHAIRS OF ADVISORY COMMITTEES

**MICHAEL A. CHAGARES
APPELLATE RULES**

**DENNIS R. DOW
BANKRUPTCY RULES**

**JOHN D. BATES
CIVIL RULES**

**DONALD W. MOLLOY
CRIMINAL RULES**

**DEBRA ANN LIVINGSTON
EVIDENCE RULES**

MEMORANDUM

TO: Hon. David G. Campbell, Chair
Committee on Rules of Practice and Procedure

FROM: Hon. Michael A. Chagares, Chair
Advisory Committee on Appellate Rules

RE: Report of the Advisory Committee on Appellate Rules

DATE: May 31, 2019 (revised June 25, 2019)¹

I. Introduction

The Advisory Committee on the Appellate Rules met on Friday, April 5, 2019, in San Antonio, Texas. * * * * *

The Committee also approved proposed amendments for which it seeks approval for publication. One group of proposed amendments relates to the contents of notices of appeal (Rules 3 and 6; Forms 1 and 2). Another proposed amendment deals with agreed dismissals (Rule 42). These are discussed in Part III of this report.

* * * * *

¹ Revisions incorporate edits to proposed Rules 3 and 42 made at the June 25, 2019 meeting of the Committee on Rules of Practice and Procedure.

III. Action Items for Approval for Publication

The Committee seeks approval for publication of proposed amendments to Rules 3 and 6, Forms 1 and 2, and Rule 42.

A. Rule 3(c)—Contents of Notices of Appeal

The Committee has been considering a possible amendment to Rule 3, dealing with the contents of notices of appeal, since the fall of 2017 when a letter from Neal Katyal and Sean Marotta brought to the Committee’s attention a troubling line of cases in one circuit. That line of cases, using an *expressio unius rationales*, would treat a notice of appeal from a final judgment that mentioned one interlocutory order but not others as limiting the appeal to that order, rather than reaching all of the interlocutory orders that merged into the judgment.

Research conducted since that time has revealed that the problem is not confined to a single circuit, but instead that there is substantial confusion both across and within circuits. In addition to a number of decisions that used an *expressio unius rationales* like the one pointed to in the Katyal and Marotta letter, there are also numerous decisions that would treat a notice of appeal that designated an order that disposed of all remaining claims in a case as limited to the claims disposed of in that order.

Moreover, there have also been cases holding that an appeal that designates an order denying a motion for reconsideration does not bring up for review the underlying judgment sought to be reconsidered.

The Supreme Court has recently described filing a notice of appeal as “generally speaking, a simple, nonsubstantive act,” and observed that filing requirements for notices of appeal “reflect that claims are . . . likely to be ill defined or unknown” at the time of filing. *Garza v. Idaho*, 139 S. Ct. 738, 745-46 (2019).

The Committee’s goal in proposing the amendments is fully in accord with *Garza*: to reduce the inadvertent loss of appellate rights caused by the phrasing of a notice of appeal.

Rule 3(c)(1)(B) currently requires that a notice of appeal “designate the judgment, order, or part thereof being appealed.” The judgment or order to be designated is the one serving as the basis of the court’s appellate jurisdiction and from which time limits are calculated. But some interpret this language as an invitation, if not a requirement, to designate each and every order of the district court that the appellant may wish to challenge on appeal. Such an interpretation overlooks a key distinction between the judgment or order on appeal—the one serving as the basis of the court’s appellate jurisdiction and from which time limits are calculated—and the various

orders or decisions that may be reviewed on appeal because they merge into the judgment or order on appeal.

The Committee considered various ways to make this point clearer. It settled on four interrelated changes to Rule 3(c)(1)(B). First, to highlight that the distinction between the ordinary case in which an appeal is taken from the final judgment from the less-common case in which an appeal is taken from some other order, the term “judgment” and the term “order” are separated by a dash. Second, to clarify that the kind of order that is to be designated in the latter situation is one that can serve as the basis of the court’s appellate jurisdiction, the word “appealable” is added before the word “order.” Third, to clarify that the judgment or order to be designated is the one serving as the basis of the court’s appellate jurisdiction, the phrase “from which the appeal is taken” replaces the phrase “being appealed.” Finally, the phrase “part thereof” is deleted because the Advisory Committee viewed this phrase as contributing to the problem.

Reflecting these changes to Rule 3(c)(1)(B), the Committee also proposes that Form 1 be replaced by Form 1A (dealing with an appeal from a final judgment) and Form 1B (dealing with an appeal from an appealable order), and that a conforming change be made to Form 2 (dealing with an appeal from the Tax Court).

The Committee considered an alternative that would have avoided adding the word “appealable” before the word “order,” and instead would have added the phrase “that supports appellate jurisdiction,” after the word “order.” It concluded that “appealable order” was clearer and more straightforward than “order that supports appellate jurisdiction.”

Designation of the final judgment confers appellate jurisdiction over prior interlocutory orders that merge into the final judgment. The merger principle is a corollary of the final judgment rule: a party cannot appeal from most interlocutory orders, but must await final judgment, and only then obtain review of interlocutory orders on appeal from the final judgment.

The Committee considered writing the merger principle into the text of the Rule. But even though the general merger principle can be stated simply—an appeal from a final judgment permits review of all rulings that led up to the judgment—there are exceptions and complications to the general principle. Because of these exceptions and complications, as well as reluctance to stymie future developments, the Committee decided against attempting to codify the merger principle. Instead, the proposed amendment would call attention to the merger principle in the text of the Rule, by adding a new Rule 3(c)(4):

(4) The notice of appeal encompasses all orders that merge for purposes of appeal into the designated judgment or appealable order. It is not necessary to designate those orders in the notice of appeal.

The Committee Note, however, would state the general merger rule.

To avoid the inadvertent loss of appellate rights where an appellant designates (1) an order that disposes of all remaining claims in a case, or (2) an order denying a motion for reconsideration, the proposed amendment would add a new Rule 3(c)(5):

(5) In a civil case, a notice of appeal encompasses the final judgment, whether or not that judgment is set out in a separate document under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 58, if the notice designates:

(A) an order that adjudicates all remaining claims and the rights and liabilities of all remaining parties; or

(B) an order described in Rule 4(a)(4)(A).

The phrasing of proposed subsection (A) draws on Civil Rule 54(b), while proposed subsection (B) relies on a cross-reference to the kinds of motions that restart the time for filing a notice of appeal.

The Committee wrestled with the question of whether to authorize an appellant to expressly limit the notice of appeal. On the one hand, in an adversary system, litigants shouldn't be required to appeal more than they choose, particularly in cases involving multiple claims and multiple parties. In addition, a single document may decide multiple motions, and include some decisions (such as granting a preliminary injunction) that are appealable and some decisions (such as setting a discovery schedule) that are not. On the other hand, any limiting work could be left to the briefs. Plus, more explicit attention in the Rules to the possibility of a limited notice of appeal might lead to strategic attempts to limit the jurisdiction of the court of appeals.

The Committee settled on language that did not speak of limiting the "appeal" or "scope of the appeal," but instead on the following, to be added as a new subsection (6):

(6) An appellant may designate only part of a judgment or appealable order by expressly stating that the notice of appeal is so limited. Without such an express statement, specific designations do not limit the scope of the notice of appeal.

If these competing concerns were resolved the other way, the final clause—"specific designations do not limit the scope of the notice of appeal"—could be added as a separate sentence to proposed new subsection (4).

A conforming amendment to Rule 6, which governs appeals in bankruptcy cases, would replace the cross-reference to “Form 1” with a cross-reference to “Forms 1A and 1B.” The Committee consulted with the Advisory Committee on the Bankruptcy Rules; no objection or other concern was raised.

The Committee also consulted with Chief Judge Maurice B. Foley of the Tax Court. He responded that neither the proposed amendments to Rule 3(c), nor the proposed amendments to Form 2 would create problems with appeals from the Tax Court.

Federal Rule of Appellate Procedure 3

* * *

(c) Contents of the Notice of Appeal.

(1) The notice of appeal must:

(A) specify the party or parties taking the appeal by naming each one in the caption or body of the notice, but an attorney representing more than one party may describe those parties with such terms as “all plaintiffs,” “the defendants,” “the plaintiffs A, B, et al.,” or “all defendants except X”;

(B) designate the ~~judgment, —or the appealable order—~~from which the appeal is taken, ~~or part thereof being appealed~~; and

(C) name the court to which the appeal is taken.

(2) A pro se notice of appeal is considered filed on behalf of the signer and the signer’s spouse and minor children (if they are parties), unless the notice clearly indicates otherwise.

(3) In a class action, whether or not the class has been certified, the notice of appeal is sufficient if it names one person qualified to bring the appeal as representative of the class.

(4) The notice of appeal encompasses all orders that merge for purposes of appeal into the designated judgment or appealable order. It is not necessary to designate those orders in the notice of appeal.

(5) In a civil case, a notice of appeal encompasses the final judgment, whether or not that judgment is set out in a separate document under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 58, if the notice designates:

(A) an order that adjudicates all remaining claims and the rights and liabilities of all remaining parties; or

(B) an order described in Rule 4(a)(4)(A).

(6) An appellant may designate only part of a judgment or appealable order by expressly stating that the notice of appeal is so limited. Without such an express statement, specific designations do not limit the scope of the notice of appeal.

~~(4)~~ (7) An appeal must not be dismissed for informality of form or title of the notice of appeal, or for failure to name a party whose intent to appeal is otherwise clear from the notice.

~~(5)~~ (8) Forms 1A and 1B in the Appendix of Forms are ~~is a~~ suggested forms of a notices of appeal.

* * *

Committee Note

The notice of appeal is supposed to be a simple document that provides notice that a party is appealing and invokes the jurisdiction of the court of appeals. It therefore must state who is appealing, what is being appealed, and to what court the appeal is being taken. It is the role of the briefs, not the notice of appeal, to focus and limit the issues on appeal.

Because the jurisdiction of the court of appeals is established by statute, an appeal can be taken only from those district court decisions from which Congress has authorized an appeal. In most instances, that is the final judgment, see, e.g., 28 U.S.C. § 1291, but some other orders are considered final within the meaning of 28 U.S.C. § 1291, and some interlocutory orders are themselves appealable. See, e.g., 28 U.S.C. § 1292. Accordingly, Rule 3(c)(1) currently requires that the notice of appeal “designate the judgment, order, or part thereof being appealed.” The judgment or order to be designated is the one serving as the basis of the court’s appellate jurisdiction and from which time limits are calculated.

However, some have interpreted this language as an invitation, if not a requirement, to designate each and every order of the district court that the appellant may wish to challenge on appeal. Such an interpretation overlooks a key distinction between the judgment or order on appeal—the one serving as the basis of the court’s appellate jurisdiction and from which time limits are calculated—and the various orders or decisions that may be reviewed on

appeal because they merge into the judgment or order on appeal. Designation of the final judgment confers appellate jurisdiction over prior interlocutory orders that merge into the final judgment. The merger principle is a corollary of the final judgment rule: a party cannot appeal from most interlocutory orders, but must await final judgment, and only then obtain review of interlocutory orders on appeal from the final judgment.

In an effort to avoid the misconception that it is necessary or appropriate to designate each and every order of the district court that the appellant may wish to challenge on appeal, Rule 3(c)(1) is amended to require the designation of “the judgment—or the appealable order—from which the appeal is taken”—and the phrase “or part thereof” is deleted. In most cases, because of the merger principle, it is appropriate to designate only the judgment. In other cases, particularly where an appeal from an interlocutory order is authorized, the notice of appeal must designate that appealable order.

Whether due to misunderstanding or a misguided attempt at caution, some notices of appeal designate both the judgment and some particular order that the appellant wishes to challenge on appeal. A number of courts, using an *expressio unius* rationale, have held that such a designation of a particular order limits the scope of the notice of appeal to the particular order, and prevents the appellant from challenging other orders that would otherwise be reviewable, under the merger principle, on appeal from the final judgment. These decisions create a trap for the unwary.

However, there are circumstances in which an appellant may deliberately choose to limit the scope of the notice of appeal, and it is desirable to enable the appellant to convey this deliberate choice to the other parties.

To alert readers to the merger principle, a new provision is added to Rule 3(c): “The notice of appeal encompasses all orders that merge for purposes of appeal into the designated judgment or appealable order. It is not necessary to designate those orders in the notice of appeal.” The general merger rule can be stated simply: an appeal from a final judgment permits review of all rulings that led up to the judgment. Because this general rule is subject to some exceptions and complications, the amendment does not attempt to codify the merger principle but instead leaves its details to case law.

To remove the trap for the unwary, while enabling deliberate limitations of the notice of appeal, another new provision is added to Rule 3(c): “An appellant may designate only part of a judgment or appealable order by expressly stating that the notice of appeal is so limited. Without such an express statement, specific designations do not limit the scope of the notice of appeal.”

A related problem arises when a case is decided by a series of orders, sometimes separated by a year or more. For example, some claims might be dismissed for failure to state a claim under F.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6), and then, after a considerable period for discovery, summary judgment under F.R.Civ.P. 56 is granted in favor of the defendant on the remaining claims. That second order, because it resolves all of the remaining claims, is a final judgment, and an

appeal from that final judgment confers jurisdiction to review the earlier F.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6) dismissal. But if a notice of appeal describes the second order, not as a final judgment, but as an order granting summary judgment, some courts would limit appellate review to the summary judgment and refuse to consider a challenge to the earlier F.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6) dismissal. Similarly, if the district court complies with the separate document requirement of F.R.Civ.P. 58, and enters both an order granting summary judgment as to the remaining claims and a separate document denying all relief, but the notice of appeal designates the order granting summary judgment rather than the separate document, some courts would likewise limit appellate review to the summary judgment and refuse to consider a challenge to the earlier F.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6) dismissal. This creates a trap for all but the most wary, because at the time that the district court issues the order disposing of all remaining claims, a litigant may not know whether the district court will ever enter the separate document required by F.R.Civ.P. 58.

To remove this trap, a new provision is added to Rule 3(c): “In a civil case, a notice of appeal encompasses the final judgment, whether or not that judgment is set out in a separate document under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 58, if the notice designates . . . an order that adjudicates all remaining claims and the rights and liabilities of all remaining parties.”

Frequently, a party who is aggrieved by a final judgment will make a motion in the district court instead of filing a notice of appeal. Rule 4(a)(4) permits a party who makes certain motions to await disposition of those motions before appealing. But some courts treat a notice of appeal that

designates only the order disposing of such a motion as limited to that order, rather than bringing the final judgment before the court of appeals for review. (Again, such an appeal might be brought before or after the judgment is set out in a separate document under F.R.Civ.P. 58.) To reduce the unintended loss of appellate rights in this situation, a new provision is added to Rule 3(c): “In a civil case, a notice of appeal encompasses the final judgment, whether or not that judgment is set out in a separate document under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 58, if the notice designates . . . an order described in Rule 4(a)(4)(A).” This amendment does not alter the requirement of Rule 4(a)(4)(B)(ii) (requiring a notice of appeal or an amended notice of appeal if a party intends to challenge an order disposing of certain motions).

These new provisions are added as Rules 3(c)(4), 3(c)(5), and 3(c)(6), with the existing Rules 3(c)(4) and 3(c)(5) renumbered. In addition, to reflect these changes to the Rule, Form 1 is replaced by Forms 1A and 1B, and Form 2 is amended.

Federal Rule of Appellate Procedure 6

* * *

(b) Appeal From a Judgment, Order, or Decree of a District Court or Bankruptcy Appellate Panel Exercising Appellate Jurisdiction in a Bankruptcy Case.

(1) **Applicability of Other Rules.** These rules apply to an appeal to a court of appeals under 28 U.S.C. § 158(d)(1) from a final judgment, order, or decree of a district court or bankruptcy appellate panel exercising appellate jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 158(a) or (b), but with these qualifications:

(A) Rules 4(a)(4), 4(b), 9, 10, 11, 12(c), 13–20, 22–23, and 24(b) do not apply;

(B) the reference in Rule 3(c) to “Forms 1A and 1B in the Appendix of Forms” must be read as a reference to Form 5;

(C) when the appeal is from a bankruptcy appellate panel, “district court,” as used in any applicable rule, means “appellate panel”; and

(D) in Rule 12.1, “district court” includes a bankruptcy court or bankruptcy appellate panel.

* * *

Committee Note

The amendment replaces “Form 1” with “Forms 1A and 1B” to conform to the amendment to Rule 3(c).

Form 1 **A**

Notice of Appeal to a Court of Appeals From a Judgment ~~or Order~~ of a District Court.

United States District Court for the _____
District of _____
File Number _____

A.B., Plaintiff

v.

C.D., Defendant

Notice of Appeal

Notice is hereby given that ____ (~~here name all parties taking the appeal~~), (plaintiffs) (defendants) in the above named case,* ~~hereby~~ appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the _____ Circuit (~~from the final judgment~~) (~~from an order (describing it)~~) entered in this action on the _____ day of _____, 20____.

(s) _____
Attorney for _____
Address: _____

[Note to inmate filers: If you are an inmate confined in an institution and you seek the timing benefit of Fed. R. App. P. 4(c)(1), complete Form 7 (Declaration of Inmate Filing) and file that declaration along with this Notice of Appeal.]

* See Rule 3(c) for permissible ways of identifying appellants.

Form 1**B**

Notice of Appeal to a Court of Appeals From a ~~Judgment or~~ an Appealable Order of a
District Court.

United States District Court for the _____
District of _____
File Number _____

A.B., Plaintiff

v.

C.D., Defendant

Notice of Appeal

Notice is hereby given that ____ (~~here~~ name all parties taking the appeal)__, (plaintiffs)
(defendants) in the above named case,* ~~hereby~~ appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for
the _____ Circuit (~~from the final judgment~~) (from an the order ____ (describing the order it
) entered in this action on the _____ day of _____, 20____.

(s) _____
Attorney for _____
Address: _____

[Note to inmate filers: *If you are an inmate confined in an institution and you seek the timing benefit of Fed. R. App. P. 4(c)(1), complete Form 7 (Declaration of Inmate Filing) and file that declaration along with this Notice of Appeal.*]

* See Rule 3(c) for permissible ways of identifying appellants.

Form 2

**Notice of Appeal to a Court of Appeals From a Decision of
the United States Tax Court**

UNITED STATES TAX COURT
Washington, D.C.

A.B., Petitioner

v.

Commissioner of Internal Revenue,
Respondent

Docket No. _____

Notice of Appeal

Notice is hereby given that _____ (~~here~~ name all parties taking the appeal²) _____
~~hereby~~ appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the _____ Circuit from ~~(that part of)~~ the
decision of this court entered in the above captioned proceeding on the _____ day of _____,
20__ (relating to _____).

(s) _____
Counsel for _____
Address: _____

B. Rule 42(b)—Agreed Dismissals

The Committee proposes amending Rule 42(b) to require the circuit clerk to dismiss an appeal if the parties file a signed dismissal agreement specifying how costs are to be paid and pay any court fees that are due. The current Rule gives a discretionary power to dismiss by using the word “may.” Prior to restyling, the word

² See Rule 3(c) for permissible ways of identifying appellants.

“may” was “shall”; the Committee now proposes replacing the word “may” with the word “must.” Mandatory dismissal is also the approach of Supreme Court Rule 46.

To clarify the distinction between situations where dismissal is mandated by stipulation of the parties and other situations, the proposed amendment would subdivide Rule 42(b) and add appropriate subheadings.

The current Rule provides that “no mandate or other process may issue without a court order.” Modern readers find this phrasing cryptic, and it has produced some difficulty for circuit clerks who have taken to issuing orders in lieu of mandates when appeals are dismissed in order to make clear that jurisdiction over the case is being returned to the district court. Members of the Committee debated whether a mandate is necessary when, for example, an appeal from a preliminary injunction is dismissed. These problems are avoided by replacing this language and instead stating directly in a new subsection (b)(3): “A court order is required for any relief beyond the mere dismissal of an appeal—including approving a settlement, vacating an action of the district court or an administrative agency, or remanding the case to either of them.” A new subsection (c) was added to the rule to clarify that Rule 42 does not alter the legal requirements governing court approval of a settlement, payment, or other consideration.

The Committee considered requiring a “judicial order” or “action by a judge” rather than a “court order,” but opted for “court order” rather than upset the practice in the Ninth Circuit of delegating some dismissal power to mediators and the Appellate Commissioner.

The Committee also considered deleting the examples of orders beyond mere dismissals, but decided to include them because they were useful illustrations, particularly in light of the decision in *United States Bancorp Mortgage Co. v. Bonner Mall Partnership*, 513 U.S. 18, 29 (1994) (holding that “mootness by reason of settlement does not justify vacatur of a judgment”).

* * * * *

The Committee considered adding a provision dealing with petitions for review and applications to enforce agency orders, but concluded that it was sufficient to state in the Committee Note that Rule 20 makes Rule 42(b) applicable to petitions for review and applications to enforce an agency order and that “appeal” should be understood to include a petition for review or application to enforce an agency order.

Federal Rule of Appellate Procedure 42

* * *

(b) Dismissal in the Court of Appeals.

(1) Stipulated Dismissal. The circuit clerk ~~may~~ **must** dismiss a docketed appeal if the parties file a signed dismissal agreement specifying how costs are to be paid and pay any **court** fees that are due. ~~But no mandate or other process may issue without a court order.~~

(2) Appellant's Motion to Dismiss. An appeal may be dismissed on the appellant's motion on terms agreed to by the parties or fixed by the court.

(3) Other Relief. A court order is required for any relief beyond the mere dismissal of an appeal—including approving a settlement, vacating an action of the district court or an administrative agency, or remanding the case to either of them.

(c) Court Approval. This Rule 42 does not alter the legal requirements governing court approval of a settlement, payment, or other consideration.

Committee Note

The amendment restores the requirement, in effect prior to the restyling of the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure, that the circuit clerk dismiss an appeal if all parties so agree. It also clarifies that the fees that must be paid are court fees, not attorney's fees. The Rule does not alter the legal requirements governing court approval of a settlement, payment, or other consideration. See, e.g., F.R.Civ.P. 23(e) (requiring district court approval).

The amendment replaces old terminology and clarifies that any relief beyond mere dismissal—including vacating or remanding—requires a court order.

Pursuant to Rule 20, Rule 42(b) applies to petitions for review and applications to enforce an agency order. For Rule 42(b) to function in such cases, “appeal” should be understood to include a petition for review or application to enforce an agency order.

* * * * *

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK

**PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE
FEDERAL RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE¹**

1 Rule 3. Appeal as of Right—How Taken

* * * * *

3 **(c) Contents of the Notice of Appeal.**

4 (1) The notice of appeal must:

(A) specify the party or parties taking the appeal by naming each one in the caption or body of the notice, but an attorney representing more than one party may describe those parties with such terms as “all plaintiffs,” “the defendants,” “the plaintiffs A, B, et al.,” or “all defendants except X”;

¹ New material is underlined in red; matter to be omitted is lined through.

13 (B) designate the judgment, or the appealable
14 order from which the appeal is taken, ~~or~~
15 ~~part thereof being appealed~~; and

16 (C) name the court to which the appeal is taken.

17 (2) A pro se notice of appeal is considered filed on
18 behalf of the signer and the signer's spouse and
19 minor children (if they are parties), unless the
20 notice clearly indicates otherwise.

21 (3) In a class action, whether or not the class has
22 been certified, the notice of appeal is sufficient
23 if it names one person qualified to bring the
24 appeal as representative of the class.

25 (4) The notice of appeal encompasses all orders that
26 merge for purposes of appeal into the designated
27 judgment or appealable order. It is not
28 necessary to designate those orders in the notice
29 of appeal.

- 30 (5) In a civil case, a notice of appeal encompasses
31 the final judgment, whether or not that judgment
32 is set out in a separate document under Federal
33 Rule of Civil Procedure 58, if the notice
34 designates:
35 (A) an order that adjudicates all remaining
36 claims and the rights and liabilities of all
37 remaining parties; or
38 (B) an order described in Rule 4(a)(4)(A).
39 (6) An appellant may designate only part of a
40 judgment or appealable order by expressly
41 stating that the notice of appeal is so limited.
42 Without such an express statement, specific
43 designations do not limit the scope of the notice
44 of appeal.
45 ~~-(4)~~ (7) An appeal must not be dismissed for
46 informality of form or title of the notice of
47 appeal, or for failure to name a party whose

48 intent to appeal is otherwise clear from the
49 notice.

50 (5) ~~(8)~~ Forms 1A and 1B in the Appendix of Forms

51 are ~~is a~~ suggested forms of a ~~notice~~s of appeal.

52 * * * * *

Committee Note

The notice of appeal is supposed to be a simple document that provides notice that a party is appealing and invokes the jurisdiction of the court of appeals. It therefore must state who is appealing, what is being appealed, and to what court the appeal is being taken. It is the role of the briefs, not the notice of appeal, to focus and limit the issues on appeal.

Because the jurisdiction of the court of appeals is established by statute, an appeal can be taken only from those district court decisions from which Congress has authorized an appeal. In most instances, that is the final judgment, see, e.g., 28 U.S.C. § 1291, but some other orders are considered final within the meaning of 28 U.S.C. § 1291, and some interlocutory orders are themselves appealable. See, e.g., 28 U.S.C. § 1292. Accordingly, Rule 3(c)(1) currently requires that the notice of appeal “designate the judgment, order, or part thereof being appealed.” The judgment or order to be designated is the one serving as the basis of the court’s appellate jurisdiction and from which time limits are calculated.

However, some have interpreted this language as an invitation, if not a requirement, to designate each and every

order of the district court that the appellant may wish to challenge on appeal. Such an interpretation overlooks a key distinction between the judgment or order on appeal—the one serving as the basis of the court’s appellate jurisdiction and from which time limits are calculated—and the various orders or decisions that may be reviewed on appeal because they merge into the judgment or order on appeal. Designation of the final judgment confers appellate jurisdiction over prior interlocutory orders that merge into the final judgment. The merger principle is a corollary of the final judgment rule: a party cannot appeal from most interlocutory orders, but must await final judgment, and only then obtain review of interlocutory orders on appeal from the final judgment.

In an effort to avoid the misconception that it is necessary or appropriate to designate each and every order of the district court that the appellant may wish to challenge on appeal, Rule 3(c)(1) is amended to require the designation of “the judgment—or the appealable order—from which the appeal is taken”—and the phrase “or part thereof” is deleted. In most cases, because of the merger principle, it is appropriate to designate only the judgment. In other cases, particularly where an appeal from an interlocutory order is authorized, the notice of appeal must designate that appealable order.

Whether due to misunderstanding or a misguided attempt at caution, some notices of appeal designate both the judgment and some particular order that the appellant wishes to challenge on appeal. A number of courts, using an *expressio unius* rationale, have held that such a designation of a particular order limits the scope of the notice of appeal to the particular order, and prevents the appellant from challenging other orders that would otherwise be reviewable,

under the merger principle, on appeal from the final judgment. These decisions create a trap for the unwary.

However, there are circumstances in which an appellant may deliberately choose to limit the scope of the notice of appeal, and it is desirable to enable the appellant to convey this deliberate choice to the other parties.

To alert readers to the merger principle, a new provision is added to Rule 3(c): “The notice of appeal encompasses all orders that merge for purposes of appeal into the designated judgment or appealable order. It is not necessary to designate those orders in the notice of appeal.” The general merger rule can be stated simply: an appeal from a final judgment permits review of all rulings that led up to the judgment. Because this general rule is subject to some exceptions and complications, the amendment does not attempt to codify the merger principle but instead leaves its details to case law.

To remove the trap for the unwary, while enabling deliberate limitations of the notice of appeal, another new provision is added to Rule 3(c): “An appellant may designate only part of a judgment or appealable order by expressly stating that the notice of appeal is so limited. Without such an express statement, specific designations do not limit the scope of the notice of appeal.”

A related problem arises when a case is decided by a series of orders, sometimes separated by a year or more. For example, some claims might be dismissed for failure to state a claim under F.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6), and then, after a considerable period for discovery, summary judgment under F.R.Civ.P. 56 is granted in favor of the defendant on the remaining claims. That second order, because it resolves all of the remaining claims, is a final judgment, and an appeal

from that final judgment confers jurisdiction to review the earlier F.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6) dismissal. But if a notice of appeal describes the second order, not as a final judgment, but as an order granting summary judgment, some courts would limit appellate review to the summary judgment and refuse to consider a challenge to the earlier F.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6) dismissal. Similarly, if the district court complies with the separate document requirement of F.R.Civ.P. 58, and enters both an order granting summary judgment as to the remaining claims and a separate document denying all relief, but the notice of appeal designates the order granting summary judgment rather than the separate document, some courts would likewise limit appellate review to the summary judgment and refuse to consider a challenge to the earlier F.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6) dismissal. This creates a trap for all but the most wary, because at the time that the district court issues the order disposing of all remaining claims, a litigant may not know whether the district court will ever enter the separate document required by F.R.Civ.P. 58.

To remove this trap, a new provision is added to Rule 3(c): “In a civil case, a notice of appeal encompasses the final judgment, whether or not that judgment is set out in a separate document under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 58, if the notice designates . . . an order that adjudicates all remaining claims and the rights and liabilities of all remaining parties.”

Frequently, a party who is aggrieved by a final judgment will make a motion in the district court instead of filing a notice of appeal. Rule 4(a)(4) permits a party who makes certain motions to await disposition of those motions before appealing. But some courts treat a notice of appeal that designates only the order disposing of such a motion as limited to that order, rather than bringing the final judgment

before the court of appeals for review. (Again, such an appeal might be brought before or after the judgment is set out in a separate document under F.R.Civ.P. 58.) To reduce the unintended loss of appellate rights in this situation, a new provision is added to Rule 3(c): “In a civil case, a notice of appeal encompasses the final judgment, whether or not that judgment is set out in a separate document under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 58, if the notice designates . . . an order described in Rule 4(a)(4)(A).” This amendment does not alter the requirement of Rule 4(a)(4)(B)(ii) (requiring a notice of appeal or an amended notice of appeal if a party intends to challenge an order disposing of certain motions).

These new provisions are added as Rules 3(c)(4), 3(c)(5), and 3(c)(6), with the existing Rules 3(c)(4) and 3(c)(5) renumbered. In addition, to reflect these changes to the Rule, Form 1 is replaced by Forms 1A and 1B, and Form 2 is amended.

1 **Rule 6. Appeal in a Bankruptcy Case**

2 * * * * *

3 **(b) Appeal From a Judgment, Order, or Decree of a**
4 **District Court or Bankruptcy Appellate Panel Exercising**
5 **Appellate Jurisdiction in a Bankruptcy Case.**

6 (1) **Applicability of Other Rules.** These rules apply
7 to an appeal to a court of appeals under 28 U.S.C. § 158(d)(1)
8 from a final judgment, order, or decree of a district court or
9 bankruptcy appellate panel exercising appellate jurisdiction
10 under 28 U.S.C. § 158(a) or (b), but with these
11 qualifications:

12 (A) Rules 4(a)(4), 4(b), 9, 10, 11, 12(c), 13–20,
13 22–23, and 24(b) do not apply;

14 (B) the reference in Rule 3(c) to “Forms 1A and
15 1B in the Appendix of Forms” must be read
16 as a reference to Form 5;

17 (C) when the appeal is from a bankruptcy
18 appellate panel, “district court,” as used in

19 any applicable rule, means “appellate
20 panel”; and

21 (D) in Rule 12.1, “district court” includes a
22 bankruptcy court or bankruptcy appellate
23 panel.

24 * * * * *

Committee Note

 The amendment replaces “Form 1” with “Forms 1A
and 1B” to conform to the amendment to Rule 3(c).

Form 1^A**Notice of Appeal to a Court of Appeals From a
Judgment ~~or Order~~ of a District Court.**

United States District Court for the _____
 District of _____
 File Number _____

A.B., Plaintiff
v.
C.D., Defendant

Notice of Appeal

Notice is hereby given that ____ (~~here~~ name all parties taking the appeal) ____, (plaintiffs) (defendants) in the above named case,* ~~hereby~~ appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the _____ Circuit ~~(from the final judgment) (from an order (describing it))~~ entered in this action on the _____ day of _____, 20____.

(s) _____
 Attorney for _____
 Address: _____

[Note to inmate filers: If you are an inmate confined in an institution and you seek the timing benefit of Fed. R. App. P. 4(c)(1), complete Form 7 (Declaration of Inmate Filing) and file that declaration along with this Notice of Appeal.]

 * See Rule 3(c) for permissible ways of identifying appellants.

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK

Form 1B**Notice of Appeal to a Court of Appeals From a
Judgment or an Appealable Order of a District Court.**

United States District Court for the _____
 District of _____
 File Number _____

A.B., Plaintiff

v.

C.D., Defendant

Notice of Appeal

Notice is hereby given that ____ (~~here~~ name all parties taking the appeal) ____, (plaintiffs) (defendants) in the above named case,* ~~hereby~~ appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the _____ Circuit (~~from the final judgment~~) (from an the order ____ (describing the order it) ____) entered in this action on the _____ day of _____, 20____.

(s) _____
 Attorney for _____
 Address: _____

[Note to inmate filers: If you are an inmate confined in an institution and you seek the timing benefit of Fed. R. App. P. 4(c)(1), complete Form 7 (Declaration of Inmate Filing) and file that declaration along with this Notice of Appeal.]

* See Rule 3(c) for permissible ways of identifying appellants.

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK

Form 2**Notice of Appeal to a Court of Appeals From a Decision
of
the United States Tax Court**UNITED STATES TAX COURT
Washington, D.C.

A.B., Petitioner

v.

Docket No. _____

Commissioner of
Internal Revenue,
Respondent

Notice of Appeal

Notice is hereby given that _____ (~~here~~ name all parties taking the appeal*) _____ hereby appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the _____ Circuit from ~~(that part of)~~ the decision of this court entered in the above captioned proceeding on the _____ day of _____, 20____ (relating to _____).

(s) _____
Counsel for _____
Address: _____

* See Rule 3(c) for permissible ways of identifying appellants.

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK

1 **Rule 42. Voluntary Dismissal**

2 * * * * *

3 **(b) Dismissal in the Court of Appeals.**

4 **(1) Stipulated Dismissal.** The circuit clerk ~~may~~
5 must dismiss a docketed appeal if the parties file
6 a signed dismissal agreement specifying how
7 costs are to be paid and pay any court fees that
8 are due. ~~But no mandate or other process may~~
9 ~~issue without a court order.~~

10 **(2) Appellant's Motion to Dismiss.** An appeal may
11 be dismissed on the appellant's motion on terms
12 agreed to by the parties or fixed by the court.

13 **(3) Other Relief.** A court order is required for any
14 relief beyond the mere dismissal of an appeal—
15 including approving a settlement, vacating an
16 action of the district court or an administrative
17 agency, or remanding the case to either of them.

18 (c) Court Approval. This Rule 42 does not alter the legal
19 requirements governing court approval of a settlement,
20 payment, or other consideration.

21 * * * * *

Committee Note

The amendment restores the requirement, in effect prior to the restyling of the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure, that the circuit clerk dismiss an appeal if all parties so agree. It also clarifies that the fees that must be paid are court fees, not attorney's fees. The Rule does not alter the legal requirements governing court approval of a settlement, payment, or other consideration. See, e.g., F.R.Civ.P. 23(e) (requiring district court approval).

The amendment replaces old terminology and clarifies that any relief beyond mere dismissal—including approving a settlement, vacating, or remanding—requires a court order.

Pursuant to Rule 20, Rule 42(b) applies to petitions for review and applications to enforce an agency order. For Rule 42(b) to function in such cases, “appeal” should be understood to include a petition for review or application to enforce an agency order.

**Excerpt from the May 30, 2019 Report of the Advisory Committee on Bankruptcy Rules
(revised June 25, 2019)**

**COMMITTEE ON RULES OF PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE
OF THE
JUDICIAL CONFERENCE OF THE UNITED STATES
WASHINGTON, DC 20544**

DAVID G. CAMPBELL
CHAIR

REBECCA A. WOMELDORF
SECRETARY

CHAIRS OF ADVISORY COMMITTEES

MICHAEL A. CHAGARES
APPELLATE RULES

DENNIS R. DOW
BANKRUPTCY RULES

JOHN D. BATES
CIVIL RULES

DONALD W. MOLLOY
CRIMINAL RULES

DEBRA ANN LIVINGSTON
EVIDENCE RULES

MEMORANDUM

TO: Honorable David G. Campbell, Chair
Committee on Rules of Practice and Procedure

FROM: Honorable Dennis R. Dow, Chair
Advisory Committee on Bankruptcy Rules

RE: Report of the Advisory Committee on Bankruptcy Rules

DATE: May 30, 2019 (revised June 25, 2019)¹

I. Introduction

The Advisory Committee on Bankruptcy Rules met in San Antonio, Texas, on April 4, 2019.

* * * * *

The action items are organized as follows:

* * * * *

¹ At its April 4, 2019 meeting, the Advisory Committee recommended the proposed amendment to Rule 2005 for final approval without publication. This recommendation was revised to a recommendation for publication for public comment at the June 25, 2019 meeting of the Committee on Rules of Practice and Procedure.

**Excerpt from the May 30, 2019 Report of the Advisory Committee on Bankruptcy Rules
(revised June 25, 2019)**

- B. Items for Publication
- Rule 2005
 - Rule 3007;
 - Rule 7007.1; and
 - Rule 9036.

* * * * *

B. Items for Publication

The Advisory Committee recommends that the following rule amendments be published for public comment in August 2019.* * * * *

Action Item 4. Rule 2005 (Apprehension and Removal of Debtor to Compel Attendance for Examination). Judge Brian Fenimore of the Bankruptcy Court for the Western District of Missouri brought to the attention of Judge Dennis R. Dow that Rule 2005(c) contains references to repealed provisions of the Criminal Code. Rule 2005(c) currently reads as follows:

(c) CONDITIONS OF RELEASE. In determining what conditions will reasonably assure attendance or obedience under subdivision (a) of this rule or appearance under subdivision (b) of this rule, the court shall be governed by the provisions and policies of title 18 U.S.C. § 3146(a) and (b).

Sections 3141 through 3151 of the Title 18 were repealed by the Bail Reform Act of 1984, Pub. L. No. 98-473, Title II, § 203(a), 98 Stat. 1979 (1984), and replaced by new provisions dealing with bail. The current version of 18 U.S.C. § 3146 deals not with conditions to assure attendance or appearance, but with penalties for failure to appear. The topic of conditions is addressed by 18 U.S.C. § 3142.

Although much of § 3142 is inapplicable to the subject of Rule 2005(c) (conditions designed to assure attendance for examination or appearance before the court), the easiest technical fix is that suggested by Judge Fenimore, which is simply replacing the reference to “§ 3146(a) and (b)” in Rule 2005(c) with a reference to “§ 3142.” The Advisory Committee voted unanimously to seek approval of this amendment without publication.

Action Item 7. Rule 3007 (Objections to Claims). Rule 3007(a)(2)(A)(ii) requires service of an objection to a claim “on an insured depository institution[] in the manner provided by Rule 7004(h).” An issue has been raised by bankruptcy judges as to whether “insured depository institution” under Rule 7004(h) includes credit unions as well as banks, a question that the Advisory Committee previously decided in the negative, and whether the meaning of “insured depository institution” is the same under Rule 3007(a)(2)(A)(ii) as under Rule 7004(h)

Rule 7004 governs service of a summons and complaint in adversary proceedings, and Rule 9014(b) makes Rule 7004 applicable to service of a motion initiating a contested matter. Rule 7004(b) provides generally for service by first class mail, in addition to the methods of service

**Excerpt from the May 30, 2019 Report of the Advisory Committee on Bankruptcy Rules
(revised June 25, 2019)**

specified by Civil Rule 4(e)-(j). Rule 7004(b), however, is made subject to an exception set out in subdivision (h). The latter provision states:

(h) SERVICE OF PROCESS ON AN INSURED DEPOSITORY INSTITUTION. Service on an insured depository institution (as defined in section 3 of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act) in a contested matter or adversary proceeding shall be made by certified mail addressed to an officer of the institution unless—

(1) the institution has appeared by its attorney, in which case the attorney shall be served by first class mail;

(2) the court orders otherwise after service upon the institution by certified mail of notice of an application to permit service on the institution by first class mail sent to an officer of the institution designated by the institution; or

(3) the institution has waived in writing its entitlement to service by certified mail by designating an officer to receive service.

Rule 7004(h) was enacted by Congress as part of the Bankruptcy Reform Act of 1994, Pub. L. No. 103-394, 108 Stat. 4106. Section 114 of that law declared that “Rule 7004 of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure is amended” to add the text of new subdivision (h).

At the spring 2018 Advisory Committee meeting, the Committee concluded that Rule 7004(h) is not applicable to credit unions because, being insured by the National Credit Union Administration, credit unions do not fall within section 3 of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act.² The Committee also decided not to take further action on Suggestion 17-BK-E, which sought an expansion of Rule 7004(h) to include credit unions.

Because of the limited scope of Rule 7004(h), other rule provisions that require service in the manner provided “by Rule 7004” allow service by first class mail under Rule 7004(b) on credit unions. These rules include Rules 3012(b) (request for a determination of the amount of a secured claim in a chapter 12 or 13 plan), 4003(d) (avoidance of a lien on exempt property in a chapter 12 or 13 plan), 5009(d) (motion for an order declaring a lien satisfied and released), 9011(c)(1) (motion for sanctions), and 9014(b) (motion initiating a contested matter).

The 2017 amendments to Rule 3007 were intended to clarify that objections to claims are generally not required to be served in the manner provided by Rule 7004. Instead, those objections may be served on most claimants by mailing them to the person designated on the proof of claim. But that rule is subject to two exceptions. The one relevant here is set forth in subdivision (a)(2)(A)(ii). It provides that “insured depository institutions” must be served “in the manner provided by Rule 7004(h).” The Advisory Committee added that exception in an effort to comply

² Section 3 of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, 12 U.S.C. § 1813(c)(2), provides, “The term ‘insured depository institution’ means any bank or savings association the deposits of which are insured by the Corporation pursuant to this chapter.” The “Corporation” is the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. *Id.* at § 1811(a).

**Excerpt from the May 30, 2019 Report of the Advisory Committee on Bankruptcy Rules
(revised June 25, 2019)**

with the legislative mandate in Rule 7004(h) that such institutions be served by certified mail in contested matters and adversary proceedings.³

The Advisory Committee now realizes that the promulgation of Rule 3007(a)(2)(A)(ii) failed to take account of the Bankruptcy Code definition of “insured depository institution.”⁴ The effect of that definition was not raised during the Advisory Committee’s lengthy consideration of the Rule 3007 amendments. The Code definition, which includes credit unions in addition to banks insured by the FDIC, is made applicable to the Bankruptcy Rules by Rule 9001. However, the Committee concluded that the definition does not change the scope of Rule 7004(h), because in the latter provision Congress expressly included a specific and narrower definition of insured depository institution—one defined in section 3 of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act. That specific reference in Rule 7004(h) overrides the more general definition in § 101(35). *See Radlax Gateway Hotel, LLC v. Amalgamated Bank*, 566 U.S. 639, 645 (2012) (“[I]t is a commonplace of statutory construction that the specific governs the general.”).

The existence of a Code definition of insured depository institution does, however, affect the scope of Rule 3007(a)(2)(A)(ii). That provision does not say that service according to Rule 7004 is required; instead, it specifically requires service according to Rule 7004(h). And it applies to an “insured depository institution” without providing any special definition of that term. Accordingly, the § 101(35) definition applies, and credit unions are brought within the requirement that Rule 7004(h) service be made. That means that only under this one rule are credit unions required to receive service by certified mail.

At the spring meeting, the Advisory Committee considered whether Rule 3007(a)(2)(A)(ii) should be left as it is, thus requiring heightened service on credit unions in this one instance, or be revised so as to apply only to banks insured by the FDIC. The Committee voted unanimously to revise Rule 3007(a)(2)(A)(ii) to eliminate the inclusion of credit unions. The underlying intent of the Advisory Committee in proposing the amendments to Rule 3007 was to clarify that Rule 7004 service is generally not required for objections to claims. The exception in subdivision (a)(2)(A)(ii) was included based on the belief that it was required by the congressionally imposed requirement of Rule 7004(h); there was no intent, however, to expand the scope of that heightened service requirement. The Advisory Committee therefore requests that an amendment to Rule 3007(a)(2)(A)(ii) be published that limits its applicability to an insured depository institution as defined in section 3 of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act.

Action Item 8. Rule 7007.1 (Corporate Ownership Statement). Continuing the advisory committees’ efforts to conform the various disclosure-statement rules to the amendments made to FRAP 26.1, which are expected to go into effect in December, the Advisory Committee proposes for publication conforming amendments to Rule 7007.1. As is discussed under Action Item 3, the Standing Committee has published similar amendments to Rule 8012—the bankruptcy appellate disclosure-statement rule—and final approval of those amendments is being sought at

³ The other exception, not relevant here, is for service on the United States or any of its officers or directors. They must be served according to Rule 7004(b)(4) or (5).

⁴ Section 101(35) provides that the “term ‘insured depository institution’—(A) has the meaning given it in section 3(c)(2) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act; and (B) includes an insured credit union (except in the case of paragraphs (21B) and (33A) of this subsection).”

**Excerpt from the May 30, 2019 Report of the Advisory Committee on Bankruptcy Rules
(revised June 25, 2019)**

this meeting. Rule 7007.1 requires corporate-ownership disclosure in the bankruptcy court and is proposed for amendment to parallel the relevant amendments to Civil Rule 7.1 that are being proposed. Like that rule, amended Rule 7007.1 would be made applicable to nongovernmental corporations seeking to intervene and would no longer require the submission of two copies of the statement.

Action Item 9. Rule 9036 (Notice and Service by Electronic Transmission). As we reported at the January Standing Committee meeting, the Advisory Committee has been considering possible rule and form amendments to increase the use of electronic notice and service in the bankruptcy courts. Part of the impetus for this project was a suggestion by the Committee on Court Administration and Case Management (“CACM”) that Rule 9036 be amended to provide for mandatory electronic service on “high volume notice recipients,” a category that would initially be composed of entities that each receive more than 100 court-generated paper notices from one or more courts in a calendar month. Judge Wm. Terrell Hodges, CACM chair, explained that the suggestion built upon a 2015 suggestion submitted by the Bankruptcy Judges Advisory Group, the Bankruptcy Clerks Advisory Group, and the Bankruptcy Noticing Working Group. The Advisory Committee had voted not to act on that suggestion for mandatory electronic service on high volume notice recipients because it concluded that § 342(e) and (f) of the Bankruptcy Code allow a chapter 7 or 13 creditor to insist upon receipt of notices at a particular physical address. Judge Hodges explained that the current suggestion takes account of that concern by making the mandatory electronic noticing program “subject to the right to file a notice of address pursuant to § 342(e) or (f) of the Code.” CACM strongly urged the adoption of the high-volume-notice-recipient program in order to achieve judicial savings of \$3 million or more a year.

Members of a subcommittee worked with a member of the Bankruptcy Noticing Working Group, AO staff, and the chair of the CACM subcommittee that developed the suggestion in drafting the proposed amendments to Rule 9036. Those discussions were helpful in clarifying current noticing practices and understanding how those practices would be affected by proposed suggestions for expanding electronic noticing. Based on those discussions, the amendments to Rule 9036 were drafted to address electronic noticing and service by courts separately from noticing and service by parties. Doing so takes into account that courts have access to addresses registered with the Bankruptcy Noticing Center (“BNC”), while parties do not. The subcommittee also concluded that CACM’s proposed draft of amendments regarding the high-volume-notice-recipient program contained more detail than is needed in a procedural rule. Instead, the subcommittee proposed rule amendments that leave details about the operation of the program up to the AO and the BNC. As drafted, Rule 9036 would just recognize the existence of such a program and provide for service and noticing on its participants.

The Standing Committee in August 2017 published for public comment proposed amendments to Rule 2002(g) (Addressing Notices) that allowed notices to be sent to email addresses designated on filed proofs of claims and proofs of interest. Also published was a proposed amendment to Official Form 410 (Proof of Claim) that added a check box for opting into email service and noticing. It instructed the creditor to check the box “if you would like to receive all notices and papers by email rather than regular mail.” Based on its careful consideration of the comments and the logistics of implementing the proposed email opt-in procedure, the Advisory Committee decided to hold the amendments to Rule 2002(g) and Official Form 410 in abeyance.

**Excerpt from the May 30, 2019 Report of the Advisory Committee on Bankruptcy Rules
(revised June 25, 2019)**

At the spring meeting this year, the Advisory Committee discussed and approved the proposed amendments to Rule 9036 for publication. If the proposed amendments are published this summer, the amended rule would be on track to take effect on December 1, 2021. That is a date by which implementation of an opt-in system for electronic service and noticing—at an email address indicated on a proof of claim—also ought to be feasible. The amendments to Rule 2002(g)(1) and Official Form 410 that were published in 2017 could take effect then. They do not require further publication, although they may require some minor revisions in response to the earlier comments that were submitted.

* * * * *

**Rule 2005. Apprehension and Removal of Debtor to
Compel Attendance for Examination**

(c) CONDITIONS OF RELEASE. In determining what conditions will reasonably assure attendance or obedience under subdivision (a) of this rule or appearance under subdivision (b) of this rule, the court shall be governed by the relevant provisions and policies of title 18, U.S.C., § 3146(a) and (b) 3142.

The rule is amended to replace the reference to 18 U.S.C. § 3146(a) and (b) with a reference to 18 U.S.C. § 3142. Sections 3141 through 3151 of Title 18 were repealed by the Bail Reform Act of 1984, Pub. L. No. 98-473, Title II, § 203(a), 98 Stat. 1979 (1984), and replaced by new provisions dealing with bail. The current version of 18 U.S.C. § 3146 deals not with conditions to assure attendance or appearance, but with penalties for failure to appear. The topic of conditions is in 18 U.S.C. § 3142. Because 18 U.S.C. § 3142 contains provisions bearing on topics not included in former 18 U.S.C. § 3146(a) and (b), the rule is

- 51 -

2 FEDERAL RULES OF BANKRUPTCY PROCEDURE

also amended to limit the reference to the “relevant” provisions and policies of § 3142.

1 **Rule 3007. Objections to Claims**

2 (a) TIME AND MANNER OF SERVICE.

3 * * * * *

4 (2) *Manner of Service.*

5 (A) The objection and notice shall be served
6 on a claimant by first-class mail to the person
7 most recently designated on the claimant's
8 original or amended proof of claim as the
9 person to receive notices, at the address so
10 indicated; and

11 * * * * *

12 (ii) if the objection is to a claim of
13 an insured depository institution as
14 defined in section 3 of the Federal
15 Deposit Insurance Act, in the
16 manner provided by Rule 7004(h).

17 * * * * *

Committee Note

Subdivision (a)(2)(A)(ii) is amended to clarify that the special service method required by Rule 7004(h) must be used for service of objections to claims only on insured depository institutions as defined in section 3 of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, 12 U.S.C. § 1813. Rule 7004(h) was enacted by Congress as part of the Bankruptcy Reform Act of 1994. It applies only to insured depository institutions that are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and does not include credit unions, which are instead insured by the National Credit Union Administration. A credit union, therefore, may be served with an objection to a claim according to Rule 3007(a)(2)(A)—by first-class mail sent to the person designated for receipt of notice on the credit union’s proof of claim.

1 **Rule 7007.1. Corporate—Ownership Disclosure**
2 **Statement**

3 (a) REQUIRED DISCLOSURE. Any
4 nongovernmental corporation that is a party to an adversary
5 proceeding, other than the debtor, ~~or a governmental unit,~~
6 shall file ~~two copies of~~ a statement that identifies any parent
7 corporation and any publicly held corporation, ~~other than a~~
8 ~~governmental unit, that directly or indirectly~~ that owns 10%
9 or more of ~~any class of the corporation's equity interests,~~ its
10 stock or states that there ~~are no entities to report under this~~
11 ~~subdivision~~ is no such corporation. The same requirement
12 applies to a nongovernmental corporation that seeks to
13 intervene.

14 (b) TIME FOR FILING; SUPPLEMENTAL FILING.
15 ~~A party shall file the~~ The disclosure statement ~~shall;~~ required
16 ~~under Rule 7007.1(a)~~

17 (1) be filed with ~~its~~ the corporation's first
18 appearance, pleading, motion, response, or other
19 request addressed to the court; and

20 (2) be supplemented whenever the
21 information required by this rule changes
22 ~~A party shall file a supplemental statement~~
23 ~~promptly upon any change in~~
24 ~~circumstances that this rule requires the~~
25 ~~party to identify or disclose.~~

Committee Note

The rule is amended to conform to recent amendments to Fed. R. Bankr. P. 8012, Fed. R. App. P. 26.1., and Fed. R. Civ. P. 7.1. Subdivision (a) is amended to encompass nongovernmental corporations that seek to intervene. Stylistic changes are made to subdivision (b) to reflect that some statements will be filed by nonparties seeking to intervene.

1 **Rule 9036. Notice and Service ~~Generally~~ by Electronic**
2 **Transmission¹**

3 (a) IN GENERAL. This rule applies ~~W~~ whenever
4 these rules require or permit sending a notice or serving a
5 paper by mail ~~or other means,~~ the clerk, or some other
6 person as the court or these rules may direct, may send the
7 notice to — or serve the paper on —

8 (b) NOTICES FROM AND SERVICE BY THE
9 COURT.

10 (1) Registered Users. The clerk may send notice
11 to or serve a registered user by filing ~~the notice or~~
12 ~~paper~~ it with the court's electronic-filing system.

13 (2) All Recipients. For any recipient, the clerk
14 may send notice or serve a paper ~~Or it may be sent~~
15 ~~to any person by other~~ electronic means that the

¹ The changes indicated are to the version of Rule 9036 that will take effect on December 1, 2019, assuming that Congress takes no action to the contrary.

16 ~~person~~ recipient consented to in writing,
17 including by designating an electronic address for
18 receipt of notices under Rule 2002(g)(1). But
19 these exceptions apply:

20 (A) if the recipient has registered an
21 electronic address with the Administrative
22 Office of the United States Courts'
23 bankruptcy-noticing program, the clerk shall
24 send the notice to or serve the paper at that
25 address; and

26 (B) if an entity has been designated by the
27 Director of the Administrative Office of the
28 United States Courts as a high-volume
29 paper-notice recipient, the clerk may send
30 the notice to or serve the paper electronically
31 at an address designated by the Director,

32 unless the entity has designated an address

33 under § 342(e) or (f) of the Code.

34 (c) NOTICES FROM AND SERVICE BY AN

35 ENTITY. An entity may send notice or serve a paper in the

36 same manner that the clerk does under (b), excluding

37 (b)(2)(A) and (B).

38 (d) COMPLETING NOTICE OR SERVICE. ~~In either~~

39 ~~of these events,~~ Electronic ~~service or notice~~ or service ~~is~~

40 complete upon filing or sending but is not effective if the

41 filer or sender receives notice that it did not reach the person

42 to be served.

43 (e) INAPPLICABILITY. This rule does not apply to

44 any ~~pleading or other~~ paper required to be served in

45 accordance with Rule 7004.

Committee Note

The rule is amended to take account of the Administrative Office of the United States Courts' program for providing notice to high-volume paper-notice recipients.

Under this program, when the Bankruptcy Noticing Center (“BNC”) has sent by mail more than a designated number of notices in a calendar month (initially set at 100) from bankruptcy courts to an entity, the Director of the Administrative Office will notify the entity that it is a high-volume paper-notice recipient. As such, this “threshold notice” will inform the entity that it must register an electronic address with the BNC. If, within a time specified in the threshold notice, a notified entity enrolls in Electronic Bankruptcy Noticing with the BNC, it will be sent notices electronically at the address maintained by the BNC upon a start date determined by the Director. If a notified entity does not timely enroll in Electronic Bankruptcy Noticing, it will be informed that court-generated notices will be sent to an electronic address designated by the Director. Any designation by the Director, however, is subject to the entity’s right under § 342(e) and (f) of the Code to designate an address at which it wishes to receive notices in chapter 7 and chapter 13 cases, including at its own electronic address that it registers with the BNC.

The rule is also reorganized to separate methods of electronic noticing and service available to courts from those available to parties. Both courts and parties may serve or provide notice to registered users of the court’s electronic-filing system by filing documents with that system. Both courts and parties also may serve and provide notice to any entity by electronic means consented to in writing by the recipient. As a result of a contemporaneous amendment to Rule 2002(g)(1) and Official Form 410, this consent may be indicated by providing an electronic address for the receipt of notices on a proof of claim. Only courts may serve or give notice to an entity at an electronic address registered with the

BNC as part of the Electronic Bankruptcy Noticing program, and any such address will supersede for court-generated notices an electronic address specified on a proof of claim.

The title of the rule is revised to more accurately reflect the rule's applicability to methods of electronic noticing and service. Rule 9036 does not preclude noticing and service by physical means otherwise authorized by the court or these rules.

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK

Excerpt from the June 4, 2019 Report of the Advisory Committee on Civil Rules

**COMMITTEE ON RULES OF PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE
OF THE
JUDICIAL CONFERENCE OF THE UNITED STATES
WASHINGTON, DC 20544**

DAVID G. CAMPBELL
CHAIR

REBECCA A. WOMELDORF
SECRETARY

CHAIRS OF ADVISORY COMMITTEES

MICHAEL A. CHAGARES
APPELLATE RULES

DENNIS R. DOW
BANKRUPTCY RULES

JOHN D. BATES
CIVIL RULES

DONALD W. MOLLOY
CRIMINAL RULES

DEBRA ANN LIVINGSTON
EVIDENCE RULES

MEMORANDUM

TO: Hon. David G. Campbell, Chair
Committee on Rules of Practice and Procedure

FROM: Hon. John D. Bates, Chair
Advisory Committee on Civil Rules

RE: Report of the Advisory Committee on Civil Rules

DATE: June 4, 2019

Introduction

The Civil Rules Advisory Committee met in San Antonio, Texas, on April 2-3, 2019.

* * * * *

The Committee has two action items to report. * * * * * The second is a recommendation to publish amendments of Civil Rule 7.1 that conform it to pending amendments in Appellate Rule 26(a) and Bankruptcy Rule 8012(a), and also call for disclosure of the name and citizenship of each person whose citizenship is attributed to a party for purposes of determining diversity jurisdiction.

* * * * *

Excerpt from the June 4, 2019 Report of the Advisory Committee on Civil Rules

B. For Publication: Rule 7.1

The Committee recommends publication for comment of proposals to amend Rule 7.1 regarding disclosure statements for two purposes. The first is to conform Rule 7.1 to pending amendments to Appellate Rule 26.1 and Bankruptcy Rule 8012(a). The second is to facilitate the determination whether diversity jurisdiction is defeated by attribution of a nonparty's citizenship to a party.

Maintaining consistency in disclosure requirements among the sets of Enabling Act rules is desirable. No reason has appeared to distinguish the Civil Rules from the Appellate and Bankruptcy Rules regarding disclosure by a nongovernmental corporation that seeks to intervene. The proposed amendment also deletes the direction to file two copies of the disclosure statement. Electronic court dockets ensure that a judge who wants a paper copy can get it without burdening the clerk's office with extra pieces of paper. This amendment does not present any difficulties.

Finding a means to support confident determinations of diversity jurisdiction at the outset of an action has always been important. Complete diversity is required for jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a). Problems arise when a party takes on not only its own citizenship(s) but also citizenships of nonparties that are attributed to the party. These problems have been much reduced by the general rule that a corporation is a citizen of every state and foreign state by which it has been incorporated and the state or foreign state where it has its principal place of business. But they have been multiplied by the great popularity of organizing an enterprise as an LLC. An LLC party takes on the citizenship of each of its owners. And if one of the owners is an LLC, all of the owners of that LLC also pass through to the LLC party. Committee study of the LLC issues has shown that many judges require the parties to provide detailed information about LLC citizenship. This practice serves to ensure that diversity jurisdiction actually exists, a matter that is important in itself. It also protects against the risk that a federal court's substantial investment in a case will be lost by a belated discovery—perhaps even on appeal—that there is no diversity.

Beyond LLC parties, many other parties take on the citizenships of their constituents. As recognized by Rule 82, the Civil Rules play no role in defining the various forms of human association that invoke attributed citizenships. The rule text simply invokes whatever rules are developed around the enigmatic text of § 1332(a). The third paragraph of the Committee Note emphasizes that disclosure extends to every attributed citizenship, no matter how the pass-through being is characterized for other purposes.

These amendments are proposed for publication now despite the possibility that other disclosure requirements may be recommended in the future. The MDL Subcommittee continues to study third-party litigation funding (TPLF), including various proposals for disclosure. All that is clear at the moment is that the underlying phenomena that might be characterized as third-party funding are highly variable and often complex. They continue to evolve at a rapid pace as large third-party funders expand dramatically. It seems clear that more study will be required to determine whether a useful disclosure rule could be developed. Nor does it seem likely that the several advisory committees will soon be in a position to frame possible expansions of disclosure requirements designed to support better-informed recusal decisions.

* * * * *

**PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE
FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE¹**

1 **Rule 7.1. Disclosure Statement**

2 **(a) Who Must File; Contents.**

3 **(1) *Nongovernmental Corporations.*** A

4 nongovernmental corporate party or any
5 nongovernmental corporation that seeks to
6 intervene must file ~~2 copies of a disclosure~~
7 statement that:

8 ~~(1)~~(A) identifies any parent corporation and any
9 publicly held corporation owning 10% or
10 more of its stock; or

11 ~~(2)~~(B) states that there is no such corporation.

12 **(2) *Parties in a Diversity Case.* Unless the court**
13 orders otherwise, a party in an action in which
14 jurisdiction is based on diversity under 28 U.S.C.

¹ New material is underlined in red; matter to be omitted is lined through.

20 * * * * *

Rule 7.1 is amended to require a disclosure statement by a nongovernmental corporation that seeks to intervene. This amendment conforms Rule 7.1 to similar recent amendments to Appellate Rule 26.1 and Bankruptcy Rule 8012(a).

- 66 -

A familiar example is a limited liability company, which takes on the citizenship of each of its owners. A party suing an LLC may not have all the information it needs to plead the LLC's citizenship. The same difficulty may arise with respect to other forms of noncorporate entities, some of them familiar—such as partnerships and limited partnerships—and some of them more exotic, such as “joint ventures.” Pleading on information and belief is acceptable at the pleading stage, but disclosure is necessary both to ensure that diversity jurisdiction exists and to protect against the waste that may occur upon belated discovery of a diversity-destroying citizenship. Disclosure is required by a plaintiff as well as all other parties.

What counts as an “entity” for purposes of Rule 7.1 is shaped by the need to determine whether the court has diversity jurisdiction under § 1332(a). It does not matter whether a collection of individuals is recognized as an entity for any other purpose, such as the capacity to sue or be sued in a common name, or is treated as no more than a collection of individuals for all other purposes. Every citizenship that is attributable to a party must be disclosed.

Discovery should not often be necessary after disclosures are made. But discovery may be appropriate to test jurisdictional facts by inquiring into such matters as the completeness of a disclosure's list of persons or the accuracy of their described citizenships. This rule does not address the questions that may arise when a party's disclosure

statement or discovery responses indicate that the party cannot ascertain the citizenship of every individual or entity whose citizenship may be attributed to it.

The rule recognizes that the court may limit the disclosure in appropriate circumstances. Disclosure might be cut short when a party reveals a citizenship that defeats diversity jurisdiction. Or the names of identified persons might be protected against disclosure to other parties when there are substantial interests in privacy and when there is no apparent need to support discovery by other parties to go behind the disclosure.

Disclosure is limited to individuals and entities whose citizenship is attributed to a party at the time the action is filed. Those are the citizenships that determine whether there is diversity jurisdiction. Later changes of citizenship do not change the information required and do not require supplementation under Rule 7.1(b)(2).

APPENDIX

PROCEDURES FOR THE JUDICIAL CONFERENCE'S COMMITTEE ON RULES OF PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE AND ITS ADVISORY RULES COMMITTEES (as codified in *Guide to Judicial Policy*, Vol. 1 § 400)

§ 440 Procedures for Committees on Rules of Practice and Procedure

This section contains the "Procedures for the Judicial Conference's Committee on Rules of Practice and Procedure and Its Advisory Rules Committees," last amended in September 2011. JCUS-SEP 2011, p. 35.

§ 440.10 Overview

The Rules Enabling Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2071–2077, authorizes the Supreme Court to prescribe general rules of practice and procedure and rules of evidence for the federal courts. Under the Act, the Judicial Conference must appoint a standing committee, and may appoint advisory committees to recommend new and amended rules. Section 2073 requires the Judicial Conference to publish the procedures that govern the work of the Committee on Rules of Practice and Procedure (the "Standing Committee") and its advisory committees on the Rules of Appellate, Bankruptcy, Civil, and Criminal Procedure and on the Evidence Rules. See 28 U.S.C. § 2073(a)(1). These procedures do not limit the rules committees' authority. Failure to comply with them does not invalidate any rules committee action. *Cf.* 28 U.S.C. § 2073(e).

§ 440.20 Advisory Committees

§ 440.20.10 Functions

Each advisory committee must engage in "a continuous study of the operation and effect of the general rules of practice and procedure now or hereafter in use" in its field, taking into consideration suggestions and recommendations received from any source, new statutes and court decisions affecting the rules, and legal commentary. See 28 U.S.C. § 331.

§ 440.20.20 Suggestions and Recommendations

Suggestions and recommendations on the rules are submitted to the Secretary of the Standing Committee at the Administrative Office of the United States Courts, Washington, D.C. The Secretary will acknowledge the suggestions or recommendations and refer them to the appropriate advisory committee. If the Standing Committee takes formal action on them, that action will be reflected in the Standing Committee's minutes, which are posted on the judiciary's rulemaking website.

§ 440.20.30 Drafting Rule Changes

(a) Meetings

Each advisory committee meets at the times and places that the chair designates. Advisory committee meetings must be open to the public, except when the committee — in open session and with a majority present — determines that it is in the public interest to have all or part of the meeting closed and states the reason. Each meeting must be preceded by notice of the time and place, published in the *Federal Register* and on the judiciary's rulemaking website, sufficiently in advance to permit interested persons to attend.

(b) Preparing Draft Changes

The reporter assigned to each advisory committee should prepare for the committee, under the direction of the committee or its chair, draft rule changes, committee notes explaining their purpose, and copies or summaries of written recommendations and suggestions received by the committee.

(c) Considering Draft Changes

The advisory committee studies the rules' operation and effect. It meets to consider proposed new and amended rules (together with committee notes), whether changes should be made, and whether they should be submitted to the Standing Committee with a recommendation to approve for publication. The submission must be accompanied by a written report explaining the advisory committee's action and its evaluation of competing considerations.

§ 440.20.40 Publication and Public Hearings

(a) Publication

Before any proposed rule change is published, the Standing Committee must approve publication. The Secretary then arranges for printing and circulating the proposed change to the bench, bar, and public. Publication should be as wide as possible. The proposed change must be published in the *Federal Register* and on the judiciary's rulemaking website. The Secretary must:

- (1) notify members of Congress, federal judges, and the chief justice of each state's highest court of the proposed change, with a link to the judiciary's rulemaking website; and

- (2) provide copies of the proposed change to legal-publishing firms with a request to timely include it in publications.

(b) Public Comment Period

A public comment period on the proposed change must extend for at least six months after notice is published in the *Federal Register*, unless a shorter period is approved under paragraph (d) of this section.

(c) Hearings

The advisory committee must conduct public hearings on the proposed change unless eliminating them is approved under paragraph (d) of this section or not enough witnesses ask to testify at a particular hearing. The hearings are held at the times and places that the advisory committee's chair determines. Notice of the times and places must be published in the *Federal Register* and on the judiciary's rulemaking website. The hearings must be recorded. Whenever possible, a transcript should be produced by a qualified court reporter.

(d) Expedited Procedures

The Standing Committee may shorten the public comment period or eliminate public hearings if it determines that the administration of justice requires a proposed rule change to be expedited and that appropriate notice to the public can still be provided and public comment obtained. The Standing Committee may also eliminate public notice and comment for a technical or conforming amendment if the Committee determines that they are unnecessary. When an exception is made, the chair must advise the Judicial Conference and provide the reasons.

§ 440.20.50 Procedures After the Comment Period

(a) Summary of Comments

When the public comment period ends, the reporter must prepare a summary of the written comments received and of the testimony presented at public hearings. If the number of comments is very large, the reporter may summarize and aggregate similar individual comments, identifying the source of each one.

(b) Advisory Committee Review; Republication

The advisory committee reviews the proposed change in light of any comments and testimony. If the advisory committee makes substantial changes, the proposed rule should be republished for an additional period of public comment unless the advisory committee determines that republication would not be

necessary to achieve adequate public comment and would not assist the work of the rules committees.

(c) Submission to the Standing Committee

The advisory committee submits to the Standing Committee the proposed change and committee note that it recommends for approval. Each submission must:

- (1) be accompanied by a separate report of the comments received;
- (2) explain the changes made after the original publication; and
- (3) include an explanation of competing considerations examined by the advisory committee.

§ 440.20.60 Preparing Minutes and Maintaining Records

(a) Minutes of Meetings

The advisory committee's chair arranges for preparing the minutes of the committee meetings.

(b) Records

The advisory committee's records consist of:

- written suggestions received from the public;
- written comments received from the public on drafts of proposed rules;
- the committee's responses to public suggestions and comments;
- other correspondence with the public about proposed rule changes;
- electronic recordings and transcripts of public hearings (when prepared);
- the reporter's summaries of public comments and of testimony from public hearings;
- agenda books and materials prepared for committee meetings;
- minutes of committee meetings;
- approved drafts of rule changes; and
- reports to the Standing Committee.

(c) Public Access to Records

The records must be posted on the judiciary's rulemaking website, except for general public correspondence about proposed rule changes and electronic

recordings of hearings when transcripts are prepared. This correspondence and archived records are maintained by the AO and are available for public inspection. Minutes of a closed meeting may be made available to the public but with any deletions necessary to avoid frustrating the purpose of closing the meeting under § 440.20.30(a).

§ 440.30 Standing Committee

§ 440.30.10 Functions

The Standing Committee's functions include:

- (a) coordinating the work of the advisory committees;
- (b) suggesting proposals for them to study;
- (c) considering proposals they recommend for publication for public comment; and
- (d) for proposed rule changes that have completed that process, deciding whether to accept or modify the proposals and transmit them with its own recommendation to the Judicial Conference, recommit them to the advisory committee for further study and consideration, or reject them.

§ 440.30.20 Procedures

(a) Meetings

The Standing Committee meets at the times and places that the chair designates. Committee meetings must be open to the public, except when the Committee — in open session and with a majority present — determines that it is in the public interest to have all or part of the meeting closed and states the reason. Each meeting must be preceded by notice of the time and place, published in the *Federal Register* and on the judiciary's rulemaking website, sufficiently in advance to permit interested persons to attend.

(b) Attendance by the Advisory Committee Chairs and Reporters

The advisory committees' chairs and reporters should attend the Standing Committee meetings to present their committees' proposed rule changes and committee notes, to inform the Standing Committee about ongoing work, and to participate in the discussions.

(c) Action on Proposed Rule Changes or Committee Notes

The Standing Committee may accept, reject, or modify a proposed change or committee note, or may return the proposal to the advisory committee with instructions or recommendations.

(d) Transmission to the Judicial Conference

The Standing Committee must transmit to the Judicial Conference the proposed rule changes and committee notes that it approves, together with the advisory committee report. The Standing Committee's report includes its own recommendations and explains any changes that it made.

§ 440.30.30 Preparing Minutes and Maintaining Records

(a) Minutes of Meetings

The Secretary prepares minutes of Standing Committee meetings.

(b) Records

The Standing Committee's records consist of:

- the minutes of Standing Committee and advisory committee meetings;
- agenda books and materials prepared for Standing Committee meetings;
- reports to the Judicial Conference; and
- official correspondence about rule changes, including correspondence with advisory committee chairs.

(c) Public Access to Records

The records must be posted on the judiciary's rulemaking website, except for official correspondence about rule changes. This correspondence and archived records are maintained by the AO and are available for public inspection. Minutes of a closed meeting may be made available to the public but with any deletions necessary to avoid frustrating the purpose of closing the meeting under § 440.30.20(a).

Last revised (Transmittal 01-019) December 18, 2018

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK



THE UNITED STATES COURTS

Committee on Rules of Practice and Procedure
Thurgood Marshall Federal Judiciary Building
Washington, DC 20544
uscourts.gov